#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JAMES LEE HALL,

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. SC00-2358

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER** 

/

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building/6th Floor 421 3rd Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

TATJANA OSTAPOFF Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 224634

Counsel for Petitioner

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the appellant in the Firth District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Respondent, the State of Florida, was the appellee and the prosecution in the lower courts, respectively. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

- "R" Record proper, bound at the top and contained at the beginning of the one-volume record on appeal
- "T" Transcript of proceedings in the lower tribunal, bound at the side and contained at the end of the one-volume record on appeal
- "SR" Supplemental record, consisting of transcript of hearing on Appellant's change of plea

### CERTIFICATION OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

In accordance with this Court's Administrative Order of July 13, 1998, Respondent hereby certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 14 point Times New Roman type, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was informed against in separate informations for burglary of a conveyance (Circuit Court Case No. 99-611, R 1) and using false identification to receive more than \$300 from a pawnbroker (Count I), burglary of a dwelling and causing more than \$1000 property damage (Count II), grand theft of jewelry (Count III), trafficking in stolen property (Count IV), possession of cocaine (Count V) and possession of drug paraphernalia (Count VI) (Case No. 99-762, R 2-3, 4-5).

Petitioner entered pleas of nolo contendere to all the charges against him, including burglary of a dwelling (Count II),<sup>1</sup> grand theft (Count III), and trafficking in stolen property (Count IV) "in his best interest." There were no negotiated agreements with the State: the plea was "open" to the court (R 6-11, SR 3). The trial court accepted Petitioner's pleas as voluntarily and intelligently made (SR 7), after finding that there was a factual basis for them (SR 3-4) and determining that Petitioner understood the rights he was giving up by entering them, as reflected in the written plea form (SR 5-6).

On October 15, 1999, Petitioner was adjudged guilty of each offense to which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The State apparently abandoned its prosecution of burglary of a dwelling with more than \$1000 damage, as it accepted defense counsel's statement of the charge as burglary of a dwelling (SR 2) and included no allegation regarding property damage in its factual basis for this offense (SR 3-4).

he had pled nolo contendere (R 23-24, 29-30) and sentenced to serve concurrent terms of five years imprisonment in Case No. 99-611CF (R 25-27) and Counts I, II, III, IV, and V in Case No. 99-762CF (R 31-32, 33-34, 35-36, 37-38, 39-40). On Counts II and IV in that case, Petitioner was further placed on concurrent three year terms of probation to follow the prison sentences (R33-34, 37-38, 45-51). A concurrent one-year prison term was imposed on Count VI (R 41-43). Credit was given on each sentence for 224 days time served.

The State and defense agreed that a sentencing guidelines scoresheet reflecting a total of 73 points and a minimum permitted sentence of 33.7 months in prison (R 18-22) would be utilized (T 3). The offenses for which Petitioner was convicted were alleged to have been committed on February 20, 1999, after the effective date of the Florida Criminal Punishment Code.

Petitioner noticed his pro se appeal from the sentence of the court on October 26, 1999 (R 52-53).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. Section 812.025 prohibits conviction for both theft and dealing in the same stolen property. The fact that Petitioner entered pleas to the offenses does not excuse the trial court from compliance with this statute. Petitioner's conviction for grand theft must be vacated.

2. The Criminal Punishment Code, which provides for a minimum permissible sentence based on a sentencing guidelines scoresheet but authorizes the trial court to impose any sentence between that minimum and the maximum statutory sentence for the offense, violates the due process clause of the United States and Florida Constitutions. It permits arbitrary sentencing decisions by the trial courts. The Code's denial of the defendant's right to appeal a departure from the sentencing guidelines recommendation while authorizing the State's appeal from any downward departure from the minimum permissible sentence creates an unbalanced sentencing scheme which is fundamentally unfair.

#### ARGUMENT

### <u>POINT I</u>

### THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADJUDGING PETITIONER GUILTY OF BOTH GRAND THEFT AND DEALING IN THE SAME STOLEN PROPERTY.

Petitioner was charged in a single information with both grand theft (Count III)

and dealing in stolen property (Count III) on the same day (R 4-5). Moreover, in its

statement of the factual basis for these charges, the State agreed that

In the case of 99-762-CF, the State would show that on [February 20, 1999], Mr. Hall gave false verification of ownership to a pawn broker for – for goods that – that did not belong to him, that being, that being jewelry.

On Count II, the same day, uh, burglary of a dwelling, uh, Mr. Hall entered the dwelling of Joe and Cindy McNeil [sic] with the intent to commit an offense therein.

With regard to Count III on that same day the offense with the, uh, dwelling was the – was the, uh, theft of jewelry that had a value in excess of three hundred dollars, but less then [sic] five, uh, a thousand dollars.

In Count IV on that same day, upon arrest, Mr. Hall trafficked in stolen property and placed *that jewelry* into the stream of commerce that I mentioned earlier belonging to the *McNeils* [sic].

(SR 3-4, emphasis added). Thus, Petitioner was charged with and convicted of

dealing in stolen property and stealing the *same* property during the *same* "scheme or

course of conduct."

But Section 812.025, Florida Statutes (1997), expressly prohibits such a result:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a single indictment or information may, under proper circumstances, charge theft and dealing in stolen property in connection with one scheme or course of conduct in separate counts that may be consolidated for trial, but the trier of fact may return a guilty verdict on one or the other, but not both, of the counts.

This prohibition dates from the enactment of the Omnibus Theft Statute, which substantially broadened the definition of theft and significantly stiffened the penalty for dealing in stolen property. As a result:

> It is clear that the legislature recognized that it had expanded the definition of theft. Section 812.025, *Florida Statutes* (1997), provides that convictions for theft and dealing in stolen property are in the alternative; the statute prohibits convictions for both offenses, when they relate to the same stolen property and the same defendant.

Jackson v. State, 736 So. 2d 77, 83 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1999). In accordance with this statutory mandate, the courts of this State have not hesitated to vacate convictions for grand theft where the defendant was also convicted of dealing in stolen property. *E.g.*, <u>Barnlund v. State</u>, 724 So. 2d 632 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998); <u>Parnell v. State</u>, 661 So. 2d 128 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1995); <u>T.S.R. v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 766 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1992); <u>Stallworth v. State</u>, 538 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1989) [dual convictions prohibited

even where property was stolen in one county and sold in another]; <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 224 (Fla. 4thDCA 1981); <u>G.M. v. State</u>, 410 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

Nor does the fact that Petitioner's convictions were the result of pleas to the charges against him alter the result. It has been held that, considering the prohibitory language of the statute, the bar against convictions for both theft and dealing in stolen property could be raised even though there had been no objection at trial to jury instructions which failed to advise that only one verdict could be returned as to the two charges. To hold otherwise "would be analogous to allowing Petitioner to be convicted of a nonexistent crime." <u>Rhames v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 724, 727 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1985). Likewise, in <u>Rife v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 1157 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the appellate court considered the propriety of dual convictions following the defendant's entry of pleas to theft and dealing in stolen property where the factual basis recited by the prosecutor at the change of plea hearing simply tracked the allegations in the information. The Second District Court of Appeal held that

Without something more to meaningfully disrupt the flow by a clearly disjunctive interval or set of circumstances, defendant's conviction of and sentence for grand theft must be set aside.

446 So. 2d at 1158. See also Victory v. State, 422 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982),

where the defendant was convicted of grand theft in Pasco County and charged with dealing with the same stolen property in Manatee County. His motion to dismiss the Manatee County charge having been denied, he pled nolo contendere, reserving the right to appeal. The appellate court agreed that his conviction for the Manatee County dealing in stolen property charge had to be vacated. *Cf.* <u>Cleaves v. State</u>, 450 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), where the defendant sought, after the revocation of his probation, to raise a challenge to his original convictions for both theft and dealing in stolen property on an information which alleged that the offenses occurred on different days. In rejecting his claim on the merits, the appellate court distinguished Victory

since there was evidence that one scheme or course of conduct, as prohibited by section 812.025, was involved. Here we have nothing in the record before us to disclose any facts as to the underlying crimes, except that the same property was involved on dates inclose proximity with each other. Any inference derived from the fact that the same property was involved on dates in close proximity with each other is not enough to make void the previous adjudications of guilt based on the prior nolo contendere pleas. An appeal from an order revoking probation may only review proceedings subsequent to the order of probation. [Citations omitted.]

Cleaves v. State, 450 So. 2d 512. No such impediment to reversal exists in the present

case, where the factual basis recited by the prosecutor at the time that Petitioner's

pleas were entered made it clear that the theft and dealing in stolen property involved the same property and were part of the same "scheme or course of conduct."

Nevertheless, the Fourth District Court of Appeal refused to grant relief in the instant case, relying on the reasoning stated in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 464 So. 2d 193, 195 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1985), *approved on other grounds*, 487 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 1986). In

Brown, the appellate court stated that

section 812.025 is inapplicable in situations where, as in the present case, the defendant pleads nolo contendere to both offenses pursuant to a plea bargaining arrangement. By its own terms, the statute is limited to cases involving a jury verdict as to one or both of the offenses. Because there is no double jeopardy prohibition against defendant being convicted and sentenced for both offenses [citation omitted], we affirm on [this issue].

This rationale, however, ignores the trial court's role as arbiter of the voluntariness of

a defendant's plea, in particular, its duty to determine that there is a factual basis for

the plea. R. Crim. P. 3.172(a) requires that

Before accepting a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the trial judge shall be satisfied that the plea is voluntarily entered and *that there is a factual basis for it*. Counsel for the prosecution and the defense shall assist the trial judge in this function.

This is consistent with the procedure mandated in Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S.238

(1969). Where the factual basis set forth by the State is inadequate, the plea is open

to challenge where the defendant suffers prejudice or manifest injustice. Kight v. State, 377 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979). Thus, in Meredith v. State, 508 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1987), the defendant was permitted to withdraw guilty plea to first degree murder where there was no factual basis for plea. Manifest injustice demonstrated where the record before the trial court reflected lack of premeditation. Where the defendant raises the possibility of a defense during the plea colloguy, the potential prejudice is considered apparent, and further inquiry is necessary. Absent such inquiry, the defendant's conviction predicated on the plea may be reversed. Williams v. State, 534 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). A trial court errs in accepting a plea where the factual basis given by the State indicates that the defendant did not commit the offense. Dydek v. State, 400 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981); Waugh v. State, 388 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). In essence then, even in the context of a plea, the trial court is required to act as a trier of the undisputed facts to ensure that the defendant does not unknowingly enter a plea to charges for which the State could not, by its own admission, obtain a conviction at trial.

In the present case, the factual basis established, as a matter of law, that the theft and dealing in stolen property to which Petitioner was offering his pleas both involved the same property, thereby triggering the proscription of Section 812.025: Petitioner could not have been convicted of both offenses at trial. No facts were in dispute, and the undisputed facts before the court thus demonstrated that Petitioner was, in fact, pleading to "a nonexistent crime." <u>Rhames v. State</u>, 473 So. 2d 724, 727. Under these circumstances, the trial court was obligated to reject Petitioner's plea to the grand theft charge, absent Petitioner's affirmation *on the record* that he understood that he could not legally be convicted of both offenses and that his waiver of this protection was voluntary and knowingly made. <u>Hoover v. State</u>, 530 So. 2d 308 (Fla. 1988), which permits the acceptance of a plea to a *lesser included offense* even where that offense was not actually committed by the defendant, does not authorize a different result in this case, where Petitioner was improperly being required to plead to *two* separate crimes.

Consequently, the trial court erred in entering judgment of conviction for both offenses. The proper remedy is to remand this cause with directions to vacate the conviction for grand theft. <u>Daniels v. State</u>, 422 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1982).

#### <u>POINT II</u>

### THE CRIMINAL PUNISHMENT CODE VIOLATES THE FEDERAL AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES REGARDING DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The trial court sentenced Petitioner pursuant to the Criminal Punishment Code. Although Petitioner's sentencing guidelines scoresheet suggested a sentence of only 33.7 months in prison, the trial court imposed concurrent prison terms of five years in prison for each offense of which Petitioner was convicted, adding a three year probationary term to the dispositions of the two second degree felonies. Because the Criminal Punishment Code supporting these sentences violates due process of law and proportionality, this Court should vacate Petitioner's sentence and remand for resentencing pursuant to the sentencing guidelines.

This Court in <u>State v. Saiez</u>, 489 So. 2d 1125, 1128 (Fla. 1986), set forth the following test to determine whether a statute violates due process:

[T]he guarantee of due process requires that the means selected shall have a reasonable and substantial relation to the object sought to be obtained and shall not be unreasonable, arbitrary, or capricious.

*See*, <u>Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Company</u>, 296 So. 2d 9, 15 (Fla. 1974) (holding that the test is "whether the statute bears a reasonable relation to a permissible legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary or oppressive"). The Criminal

Punishment Code, located at sections 921.002-921.0026, *Florida Statutes* (1999), is unreasonable, arbitrary and capricious and violates state and federal guarantees of due process in several respects.

A brief history of the development of the Florida sentencing guidelines will show why the newly fashioned Criminal Punishment Code must be stricken as unconstitutional. In 1977, Ben Overton, then-Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court, appointed a Judicial Planning Committee to consider the issue of sentencing disparity in Florida's courts. Chet Kaufman, "A Folly of Criminal Justice Policy-Making: the Rise and Demise of Early Release In Florida, And its Ex Post Facto Implications," 26 <u>Fla. St. U. L. Rev.</u> 361, 373 (1999) [hereinafter Kaufman].

Soon after, in 1978, Justice Overton created the Sentencing Study Committee, largely comprised of judges, to explore sentencing alternatives because of the public's concerns about sentencing disparities and inequities. Kaufman at 374; Alan C. Sundberg, Kenneth J. Plante, Kenneth Palmer, "A Proposal for Sentence Reform in Florida," 8 <u>Fla. St. U. L. Rev.</u> 1, 1-2 (1980) [hereinafter Sundberg]. Alan Sundberg, former Florida Supreme Court Justice, stated the Committee's goal as follows:

> [T]he Committee's fundamental goal has been to devise a system in which individuals of similar backgrounds would receive roughly equivalent sentences when they commit similar crimes, regardless of the differing penal philosophies of legislators, correctional authorities, parole

authorities, or judges.

Sundberg, supra, at 3.

The Sentencing Study Committee recommended implementation of the sentencing guidelines, finding that "there is unjustified disparity created and imposed by judges". Kaufman, *supra*, at 374, *citing*, Sentencing Study Committee, Interim Report of the Sentencing Study Committee to the Florida Supreme Court 1 (undated) (on file with Fla. Sup. Ct., Collected Papers of Justice Alan C. Sundberg, ser. 5 carton 3, file 131).

The sentencing guidelines concept, as articulated by Sundberg, is based on federal parole guidelines which were themselves established to "achieve equity in parole decisions." Sundberg, *supra*, at 8. Other principals adopted from the federal guidelines include the requirement of written reasons for departure and review of departures. *Id.* at 11-12. Thus, Florida's sentencing guidelines would "articulate sound sentencing policy, devoid of the influence of extra-legal considerations or the biases of individual judges." *Id.* at 13. The Florida Legislature subsequently implemented the Florida sentencing guidelines statewide.

The legislative intent behind the guidelines reflects the Committee's recommendations and is embodies at Chapter 82-145, Laws of Florida, which provides in pertinent part:

WHEREAS, disparity in sentencing practices exists in Florida because of the sentencing discretion our current system gives to our trial judges, leading some judges to give longer or shorter sentences than others for the same crime committed indifferent localities, and

WHEREAS, the Legislature has previously acknowledged its concern over the disparity in sentencing practices between the various judicial circuits in Florida be enacting chapter 79-362, Laws of Florida, and

WHEREAS, the Legislature by it previous act has acknowledged and approved of the continuing work of the Sentencing Study Committee of the Florida Supreme Court, which was charged with identifying the extent and causes of sentence disparity, to explore the range of sentencing reform alternatives available, and to reduce unreasonable and unjustifiable sentence variation, and

WHEREAS, the Sentencing Study Committee's first step in the development of the sentencing guidelines pilot project was to gather the empirical data necessary to describe the implicit sentencing policy operating within each of the four judicial circuits where the study was to be carried out, and

WHEREAS, reports from the four judicial circuits where the test was conducted indicate that a system of sentencing guidelines is a viable solution to the problem of ending sentence disparity and will likely lead to more certainty and fairness in the sentencing process, and

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