#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-2358

JAMES LEE HALL,

Petitioner,

VS.

## STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

#### ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

#### CELIA TERENZIO

BUREAU CHIEF, WEST PALM BEACH Florida Bar No. 656879

#### JAMES J. CARNEY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 475246 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd. Suite 300 West Palm Beach, FL 33401-2299 Telephone: (561) 688-7759

Counsel for Respondent

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

James Lee Hall was the defendant below and will be referred to as "Appellant." The State will be referred to as "Appellee." References to the record will be preceded by "R." References to any supplemental record will be preceded by "SR." All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee agrees with Appellant's statement of the case and facts, with the following additions and clarifications.

Appellant stipulated in his written and signed plea agreement that there was a factual basis for both offenses (R 20). At the plea colloquy, Appellant stated that he had read everything in the plea agreement (SR 6). He understood the contents of the plea agreement (SR 6).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I

There is no conflict. This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction. This claim was not preserved. The statute relied on by Appellant is inapplicable to pleas. No manifest injustice has been shown. Any challenge to the factual basis for a plea must first be made in the trial court.

ΙI

This Court should decline to exercise jurisdiction. Due process simply does not require uniformity in sentencing. If due process required uniformity in sentencing then only minimum mandatory sentences would be constitutional. The Code did not remove Appellant's right to appeal a sentence within the guidelines; there never was such a right.

### **ARGUMENT**

I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADJUDICATED APPELLANT GUILTY OF GRAND THEFT AND DEALING IN STOLEN PROPERTY.

### **JURISDICTION**

This Court should decline jurisdiction. The Fourth District incorrectly concluded that its decision was in conflict with Victory v. State, 422 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). In Victory, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss one of the counts, claiming that under the facts of his case he could not be convicted of both grand theft and dealing in the same stolen property. After that motion was denied, the defendant pleaded nolo contendere, reserving the right to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss. There is no indication that the State argued at trial or on appeal that Section 812.025 was inapplicable to pleas.

In this case, the defendant did not file a motion to dismiss and made no claim or showing that under the facts of the case he could not be convicted of both offenses. Hall also did not reserve the right to appeal anything and has never challenged the factual basis for his plea in the trial court. See Wilson v. State, 748 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (A defendant who has entered a plea may directly challenge the factual basis for his plea only after preserving the issue by a motion to withdraw the plea). In fact, Appellant agreed that there was a factual basis for both crimes and

pleaded to both offenses. Additionally, the State argued on appeal that Section 812.025 was inapplicable to pleas.

As <u>Hall</u> and <u>Victory</u> are distinguishable, this Court should decline jurisdiction. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Hogan</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1038 (Fla. Nov. 11, 2000) (review improvidently granted even though District Court certified conflict) and <u>Hartleb v. Florida Department of Transportation</u>, 748 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 1999) (same). <u>See also Cleaves v. State</u>, 450 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (distinguishing <u>Victory</u>).

### PRESERVATION

Assuming arguendo that this Court accepts jurisdiction, this claim was not preserved. Appellant never filed a motion to dismiss either count and in fact agreed that the facts supported convictions for both crimes. He never claimed the statute was applicable to nolo contendere pleas. Appellant conceded that there was a factual basis for both crimes (R 20, TR 6). He cannot now claim that the trial court erred by accepting his plea to both crimes. See also Wilson v. State, 748 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (A defendant who has entered a plea may directly challenge the factual basis for his plea only after preserving the issue by a motion to withdraw the plea) and Robinson v. State, 373 So. 2d 898, 902 (Fla. 1979) (An appeal from a plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea).

Additionally, Appellant is attempting to appeal his

convictions after a nolo contendere plea. He did not reserve the right to appeal his convictions. Accordingly, there is no jurisdiction to review this claim. See Nettles v. State, 643 So. 2d 547, (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (dismissing appeal claiming insufficient factual basis where defendant pleaded nolo contendere and did not reserve right to appeal).

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In deciding whether Section 812.025 applies to nolo contendere pleas, the standard of review is <u>de novo</u>. <u>See Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. DELCO Oil, Inc</u>., 721 So. 2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

### **MERITS**

Assuming <u>arguendo</u>, that this claim was preserved and this Court finds there is jurisdiction, there was no error. Section 812.025 Fla. Stat. (1999) states:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a single indictment or information may, under proper circumstances, charge theft and dealing in stolen property in connection with one scheme or course of conduct in separate counts that may be consolidated for <u>trial</u>, but the trier of fact may return a guilty <u>verdict</u> on one or the other, but not both counts.

The statute is not ambiguous. By its plain terms, Section 812.025, applies only to trials with guilty verdicts. It does not apply to plea agreements. See Hall v. State, 767 So. 2d 560, 561-62 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000); Brown v. State, 464 So. 2d 193, 195 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) and Jorstad v. State, 635 So. 2d 161 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (citing Brown and another First District case on the subject

with approval). <u>See also Calliar v. State</u>, 760 So. 2d 885, 886 (Fla. 2000) (courts are obligated to give statutes and the words they use their plain meaning). Appellee also notes that the statute applies to theft, not grand theft.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u> that this claim is preserved, there is jurisdiction, and the statute applies to nolo contendere pleas, the argument is without merit. In enacting Section 812.014, the Legislature broadened the definition of theft. <u>See generally Jackson v. State</u>, 736 So. 2d 77, 83 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). Under the present statute, one who buys stolen property with knowledge of its stolen character is just as guilty of theft as the person who physically removed the property from the owner's possession. <u>See Colvin v. State</u>, 445 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

Section 812.019 Fla. Stat. (1999), entitled "Dealing in stolen property," states in part:

(1) Any person who traffics in, or endeavors to traffic in, property that he knows or should know was stolen shall be guilty of a felony of the second degree, punishable as provided in ss. 775.082, 775.083, and 775.084.

Under section 812.012(7), Florida Statutes (1999), "traffic," means:

(b) To buy, receive, possess, obtain control of, or use property with the intent to sell, transfer, distribute, dispense, or otherwise dispose of such property.

Accordingly, if a person buys property that he knows or should know is stolen, and does so with the intent to sell it or otherwise

dispose of it, he is be guilty of theft and dealing in stolen property, even if no further action was taken. Similarly, if a defendant steals property with the intent to sell, transfer, distribute or otherwise dispose of it, he is guilty of both offenses, even if no further action is taken. Under both scenarios, the defendant has committed both crimes even though there was only "one scheme or course of conduct." These are the situations under which the statute was intended to prevent dual convictions and sentences.

Unlike the situations outlined above, the present case did not involve "one scheme or course of conduct." Appellant committed two distinct offenses with different victims at different times and places. The owner of the property was victimized at the time the property was stolen. The buyer of the property was victimized when Appellant sold property belonging to another. There is no reason to conclude that the Legislature intended only one conviction in this situation.

Even if this Court were to employ the most expansive definition of "one scheme or course of conduct," Appellant has not shown error. The record indicates that Appellant stole the jewelry from one victim and sold it to another victim at a different time and place, sometime within a twenty-four hour period (R 4, SR 3-4). In Cleaves v. State, 450 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), the defendant pleaded nolo contendere to theft and dealing in stolen

property. After violating his probation, he claimed that he could not be convicted of both crimes. The record showed only that the crimes involved the same property and occurred on dates in close proximity to one another. The Second District rejected the defendant's claim that both convictions could not stand, stating: "Any inference derived from the fact that the same property was involved on dates in close proximity with each other is not enough to make void the previous adjudications of guilt based on the prior nolo contendere pleas." Cleaves, 450 So.2d at 512. That reasoning applies here.

Appellant seems to claim that the statute automatically applies whenever a defendant's crimes occurred on the same day and involved same property (initial brief pp. 8-9). Such reasoning defies logic. Suppose "A" steals some earrings simply because he hates the victim. "A" stole the earrings intending to throw them in the ocean as a sign of his hate for the victim. Once "A" possesses the earrings, he has committed both theft and dealing in stolen property as he possesses property with the intent to dispose of it. However, a few hours after stealing the earrings, he decides to keep them for himself. A few hours later, he decides to give them to his girlfriend ("B") as a gift. "B" doesn't like the earrings and secretly sells them to "C" for five dollars. "C"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Actually, the crimes could even be committed before the perpetrator had possession as both statutes include attempts as part of the tre crimes.

trades them to "D" for a crack rock. "A" learns what has happened, becomes mad, takes the earrings from "D" and then pawns them 23 hours after he initially stole them.

Using Appellant's reasoning, the initial theft and the subsequent pawning necessarily arose from "one scheme or course of conduct" because they relate to the same property and defendant. Clearly, Appellant's claim is without merit. The fact that his crimes involved the same property and occurred on the within twenty-four hours of one another does not show that his actions fall within the statute. No manifest injustice has been shown. See State v. Thompson, 735 So. 2d 482, 485 (Fla. 1999) (after sentence is imposed the burden is on the defendant to show a manifest injustice). Appellant is not entitled to relief.

#### ISSUE II

THE CRIMINAL PUNISHMENT CODE DOES NOT VIOLATE FEDERAL AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES REGARDING DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

#### Discretionary Review

There is no reason this Court should treat the district courts as mere intermediate courts whose decisions are subject to review by this court any time there is discretionary jurisdiction.

In <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958), this Court explained:

It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts. The revision and modernization of the Florida judicial system at the appellate level was prompted by the great volume of cases reaching the Supreme Court and the consequent delay in the administration of justice. The new article embodies throughout its terms the idea of a Supreme Court which functions as a supervisory body in the judicial system for the State, exercising appellate power in certain specified areas essential to the settlement of issues of public importance and the preservation of uniformity of principle and practice, with review by the district courts in most instances being final and absolute.

In the routine exercise of appellate review, the district court below upheld the constitutionality of a sentencing statute against boilerplate claims. The decision below thoroughly examines the issue and nothing in it is exceptional or objectionable. Moreover, the statute at issue is a standard sentencing statute which is in effect statewide and will be subject to review by all

five district courts. Should any one of those courts declare it invalid, there will be direct and express conflict and mandatory review pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution.

Naturally, every new criminal statute will be challenged as unconstitutional when enacted. However, that should not entitle defendants to automatic review in the Florida Supreme Court, especially when the argument is so weak. See Peterson v. State, 775 So. 2d 376 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (the defendant's arguments do not present a close question regarding the statute's constitutionality). Accordingly, this Court should decline to exercise discretionary jurisdiction.

The state adds that if this Court does choose to exercise discretionary jurisdiction on whether the Criminal Punishment Code is unconstitutional, that there will be thousands of other discretionary review cases to follow. Accordingly, if discretionary review is exercised, this Court should immediately issue a reported opinion directing all district courts to conduct routine appellate review of all other such challenges but to stay their mandates and extend the time in which rehearing may be sought until this Court issues its decision here. See, Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981) (District court decisions grounded on cases which are under review in the Florida Supreme Court should be stayed in the district court pending resolution in the Florida Supreme Court.)

### **Appealability**

This issue is not appealable. Appellant was sentenced within the guideline range. Sentences within the range are not appealable.

#### Standing

Appellant has no standing to challenge the constitutionality of the Criminal Punishment Code. The amendments that are embodied in the Code did not affect appellant's right to appeal. The changes in the Code did not affect appellant adversely. Appellant had no right to appeal the refusal of the trial court to depart under the prior version of the statute. Moreover, prior to the guidelines, the length of the sentence was not appealable at all. In sum, appellant had never had the right to appeal this type of issue. Thus, the Code did not affect his right to appeal. He never had such a right. Cf. Smith v. State, 25 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1273 (Fla. 2d DCA May 24, 2000) (recognizing that Heggs v. State, 25 FLA. L. WEEKLY S359 (Fla. May 4, 2000) does not require resentencing unless a defendant's sentence under the 1995 guidelines constitutes a departure sentence under the 1994 guidelines). Thus, appellant has no standing.

### The standard of review

The constitutionality of a statute is reviewed de novo. Dept. of Ins. v. Keys Title and Abstract Co., Inc., 741 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (explaining that the constitutionality of a statute is reviewed de novo). Under the de novo standard of review, the appellate court pays no deference to the trial court's ruling; rather, the appellate court makes its own determination of the

legal issue with no deference to the legal determinations of the Court below.

## The presumption of constitutionality

Legislative acts are strongly presumed constitutional. State v. Kinner, 398 So.2d 1360, 1363 (Fla. 1981). Courts should resolve every reasonable doubt in favor of the constitutionality of a statute. Florida League of Cities, Inc. v. Administration Com'n, 586 So.2d 397, 412 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). An act should not be declared unconstitutional unless it is determined to be invalid beyond a reasonable doubt. Todd v. State, 643 So.2d 625, 627 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Indeed, even when a trial court has declared a statute unconstitutional, the appellate court must presume that the trial court is incorrect. Dept. of Ins. v. Keys Title and Abstract Co., Inc., 741 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

## FLORIDA CASES

Two district courts, the Fourth District and First District, have addressed this issue and both have held that the Criminal Punishment Code is constitutional. In <u>Hall v. State</u>, 767 So.2d 560 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the Fourth District held that the Criminal Punishment Code was constitutional. The defendant asserted that the Code violated due process because the State has the right to appeal a downward departure without providing a corresponding right to the defendant. The Fourth District observed that a defendant can appeal an illegal sentence. Hall also claimed that the Code fails to promote uniformity in sentencing; invites discriminatory and arbitrary application; it does not discriminate between career

and first-time felons and is arbitrary, capricious, irrational, and discriminatory.

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